I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is Toward Responsible Development ("TRD"), appellant in the court of appeals and petitioner in the superior court.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

TRD seeks review of an unreported court of appeals decision, Toward Responsible Development v. City of Black Diamond, No. 69418-9-I (Jan. 27, 2014).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. When a hearing examiner holds that an environmental impact statement ("EIS") fails to disclose significant impacts and omits "vital information," may it nevertheless be upheld using an "overall" averaging approach, invented for the first time by the court of appeals below, and unheard of in Washington case law?
- 2. When a hearing examiner makes contradictory findings on key issues, must the decision be struck down as clearly erroneous, arbitrary and capricious, or may reviewing courts pick and choose among the contradictory findings to uphold the examiner's decision?
- 3. The City of Black Diamond's comprehensive plan and implementing regulations provide that new development may be approved *only* if it would preserve the city's small-town character. The plan and

regulations also draw an explicit distinction between small-town character, on the one hand, and particular "density" standards, on the other. May the city approve a massive development project, without addressing the key issue of preserving small-town character, based solely on the city's determination that the project would meet urban "density" thresholds?

4. Should sanctions be imposed against Yarrow Bay pursuant to Washington's "Anti-SLAPP" statute, RCW 4.24.525, for threatening to saddle individual members of TRD with more than \$150,000 in attorney's fees, notwithstanding that these members were not appellants below?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal concerns the largest development project ever proposed in King County (and, therefore, probably the largest ever in the State). But this project is not proposed for a large metropolis. Instead, it is proposed for the small town of Black Diamond, nestled in a remote, southeast corner of King County. The project is so large, and the town is so small, that the project would quintuple the town's population and transform Black Diamond into a city the size of Anacortes.

But it is not just the enormous size of the project that makes it so controversial. It violates the will of the citizens of Black Diamond, expressed in the city's Comprehensive Plan, that their town not be transformed into a massive urban suburb.

A. <u>Compliance with the City's Comprehensive Plan</u>

In 2007, the City of Black Diamond adopted a Comprehensive Land Use Plan (the "Plan") that represented the city's aspiration that it not become just another urban suburb, filled with endless subdivisions and big-box retail outlets. The Plan reflected a political compromise, authorizing urban development, but only in a manner that protects Black Diamond's "small town atmosphere." AR 00114081. In essence, the Plan sought to manage growth by requiring it to maintain, and replicate, the town's historic small-town character.

The Plan has the force of law, *see* Slip Op. at 29–30, and it was adopted only two years before respondent Yarrow Bay filed its application to build the massive project. But when it came time to review the project, the city all but ignored the Plan's requirements. Rather than analyze whether the massive project would preserve the city's historic small-town character, the City Council decided only that the project was of so-called

The Plan is a compromise between those wanting to avoid development of the city's forestlands and those wanting to annex them to the city and develop them at urban densities. The grand compromise was supposed to be that annexation and development would be allowed, but only if it would preserve Black Diamond's historic small-town character and only if it would "fit within the environment rather than on top of it." AR 0014081 (*Rural by Design* at 62).

"urban density" and, therefore, approved it (the Plan's repeated emphasis on small-town character notwithstanding). See AR 0014081.

But having an urban density is plainly not the same as preserving small-town character. Finding that the project is "urban" hardly answers the question of whether it embraces the small-town character required under the Plan. So-called "urban" development encompasses everything from small towns like Forks, Tenino, Darrington, Leavenworth, Asotin, and Black Diamond, to the sprawling suburbs of King and Pierce counties, to the densely populated cities of Seattle, Tacoma, and Spokane. All are "urban," but their characters could hardly be more different.

In this case, it is difficult to imagine a proposal more at odds with the Plan's vision and requirements. Whereas the Plan requires urban development to "protect and maintain community character," the project would transform the town into a suburban city with the addition of 6,000 new homes and nearly a million square feet of big-box retail. Whereas the Plan requires development to replicate the "existing character of the historic villages (as found in Morganville and Black Diamond town sites)," the project would surround the town with suburban-style malls and subdivisions. Whereas the Plan requires development to "maintain the natural setting," the project would clearcut nearly 1,000 acres of forest and

level the land into a pancake-flat development site. As the examiner concluded below, the entire area would "be cleared of all vegetation and graded to facilitate development." AR 24919 (emphasis supplied).

Asking only whether this massive project would be "urban" in its density (and not whether it would preserve Black Diamond's small-town character), the City Council approved the Project. In doing so, it disregarded the express will of the citizens of Black Diamond — and the plain language of the city's Plan — that the town not be consumed by unrelenting urban suburbs and big-box retail stores.

B. Compliance with the State Environmental Policy Act

After Yarrow Bay filed its application for approval as a "master planned development" ("MPD"), the city prepared an EIS. Numerous citizens challenged its adequacy, resulting in a hearing before the city's hearing examiner. As with the City Council's decision, the hearing examiner's decision was seriously flawed.

The hearing examiner repeatedly held that the EIS lacked "vital" and "significant" information — most notably in relation to water quality impacts on Lake Sawyer, a water body of significant local importance and the fourth largest lake in King County. AR 5395. But notwithstanding these serious problems, the hearing examiner decided that the missing,

vital information could be ignored because *other* parts of the EIS were adequate. In essence, the hearing examiner held that the EIS was fatally flawed in relation to several significant impacts, but nevertheless used a vague and unfettered "averaging" approach to conclude that, "overall," the EIS was sufficient. This vague averaging approach to the EIS is completely foreign to the case law of this state and eviscerates the statute's purpose and command to fully evaluate all significant impacts.

C. Review in Superior Court and the Court of Appeals

This lawsuit followed the hearing examiner's decision under SEPA and the City Council's approval of the project. Remarkably, the court of appeals affirmed these decisions, in all respects, on the same fatal bases as used by the city itself. Pursuant to RCW 4.84.370, the court of appeals awarded reasonable fees to Yarrow Bay and the city. Between them, they seek fees and costs totaling nearly \$200,000.

This case took a drastic turn when Yarrow Bay alleged, in its response brief before the court of appeals, that it is entitled to recover attorneys' fees not just from the appellant TRD, but from four individual members of the appellant organization. See Yarrow Bay Br. at 98. Those members are not parties to this appeal, and as we detailed in our briefs below, Yarrow Bay's threat has had a chilling effect on their willingness

to exercise their First Amendment rights to participate in TRD.

TRD moved to strike and for sanctions under Washington's "Anti-SLAPP" statute (RCW 4.24.525). But the court denied the motion without discussion, leaving TRD's members in legal limbo as to whether they are liable for Yarrow Bay's exorbitant legal fees. Slip Op. at 39, n. 119.²

V. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision That Vital Flaws in an EIS

May Be Ignored Based on Review of the EIS "as a Whole"

Is Unprecedented and Eviscerates the Statute

When one reads in the hearing examiner's decision that "vital information was not disclosed" in the EIS; that "construction noise impacts is a significant impact that has not been adequately addressed in the EIS;" and that the EIS "fail[s] to adequately disclose potential phosphorous impacts to Lake Sawyer;" one would expect that the EIS was remanded for those flaws to be remedied. Indeed one would doubly expect the EIS to have been invalidated when one reads the following title to a section of the hearing examiner's opinion: "The Villages and Lawson Hills FEIS fail to adequately disclose potential phosphorous impacts to Lake Sawyer." AR 24599 (emphasis supplied). Referring to these and

Yarrow Bay continued to seek fees from the individual "appellants" in its cost bill. But in its reply to TRD's cost bill objections, Yarrow Bay finally acknowledged its effort to seek fees from anyone other than TRD was wrong. See Reply to Objections Regarding Attorney's Fees and Costs, at 13 (February 24, 2014).

other inadequacies the hearing examiner stated:

The SEPA Appellants established a few instances where the TV FEIS failed to provide this vital information. This vital information was either not disclosed in the main text of the TV FEIS, or the text and appendices both failed to identify and/or adequately assess vital information and probable significant adverse environmental impacts.

AR 24581. See also Op. Br. at 23-25 (quoting additional passages).

But the EIS was not remanded. Instead, the examiner invoked a concept totally foreign to established law to allow the deficient EIS to survive — that its significant defects could be overlooked because the EIS was adequate "overall." AR 24581, -583, -585-86, -638. Remarkably, the court of appeals upheld this reasoning. Slip Op. at 16 (explaining in passing that it is "not error to conclude that omission of the full extent of these impacts cannot alone justify invalidating the entire EIS").

This is an extremely dangerous precedent which would gut SEPA's demand for a reasonably thorough review of *all* significant environmental impacts. Of course, no one suggests that inadequacies on minor issues need derail an EIS. But the inadequacies here relate to central issues that the examiner himself described as "significant." To allow decisions to be made based on inadequate information on core issues is

See also AR 24601 ("Given the overall scope and context of the EIS, the failure to include these specific impacts cannot by itself justify a finding of inadequacy for the entire document, ...").

anathema to SEPA's core purpose. See infra at 11.

The court of appeals' sole authority for upholding the examiner's decision was *Save Lake Washington v. Frank*, 641 F.2d 1330, 1336 (9th Cir. 1981), which it quoted for the blanket proposition that an EIS must be reviewed "as a whole." Slip Op. at 6 & n. 20.⁴ But *Save Lake Washington* does not justify excusing significant defects in an EIS, whether by relying on other, allegedly adequate portions of the EIS or otherwise.

In Save Lake Washington, an EIS was challenged, in part, on the basis that it did "not take into account the published views of several state and local land use officials that the presence of oceangoing ships on Lake Washington would be inconsistent with certain land use goals established for the area." *Id.* at 1336. The court explained:

The primary complaint is that specific views were not represented in the supplemental EIS. Instead, summaries of local officials' views were included. The district court found that these summaries adequately conveyed the substance of the criticisms. We again see no reason to disturb the court's finding. The summaries sufficiently apprised the decision-maker of the opposition of certain officials to the project, and their reasons. Viewing the EIS as a whole, the agency had an adequate basis for evaluating the concerns of the land use jurisdictions affected by the Sand Point project.

The examiner relied on the "unfortunate but not fatal" statement in *Mentor v. Kitsap Cy.*, 22 Wn. App. 285, 291, 588 P.2d 1226 (1978). AR 24581. But, as we demonstrated in our reply brief (at 8-9), *Mentor* is not analogous. Notably, the court of appeals did not rely on it.

Id. (emphasis supplied).

Clearly, this passage does not justify ignoring significant inadequacies in an EIS on grounds that other portions are adequate. Rather, the court found that the EIS adequately summarized the comments. The court's reference to the EIS "as a whole" added nothing of substance and does not support the jarring proposition that significant defects may be ignored by viewing an EIS "overall" or "as a whole."

Contrary to the court's casual reliance on *Save Lake Washington*, numerous cases have held that where a portion of an EIS is defective, it should be remanded to bring the inadequate section into compliance.⁶ The decision below conflicts with each of these cases and review by this Court is necessary to correct this egregious error. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2).

The decision also involves a significant issue under the statute.

Save Lake Washington stands for the simple proposition that a court must be mindful that allegedly missing information need not be included in any particular section of an EIS, or in any particular format. It is in that sense that the EIS must be viewed "as a whole." But that is a long way from the averaging or "balancing" approach adopted by the examiner and the court of appeals.

See, e.g., Weyerhaeuser v. Pierce Cy., 124 Wn.2d 26, 873 P.2d 498 (1994) (EIS remanded solely for analysis of new alternatives); Kiewit Const. Group, Inc. v. Clark Cy., 83 Wn. App. 133, 142, 920 P.2d 1207 (1996) (rejecting argument that "the Board had no authority to order a supplemental EIS on traffic issues;" "the S[upplemental] EIS was justified based upon Gilbert Western's failure to disclose the full effect of truck traffic on bicyclists and other trail users, and the company's failure to discuss meaningfully the alternative of direct access ramps onto State Route 14"); Barrie v. Kitsap Cy., 93 Wn.2d 843, 854, 613 P.2d 1148 (1980) (failure to analyze alternatives).

RAP 13.4(b)(3). Washington case law is replete with statements that SEPA demands that environmental impacts be given "full consideration," and assessed to the "fullest extent possible." It would be of paramount significance were these policies to be undercut by the artifice of averaging away significant defects with an "overall" or "on the whole" assessment.⁸

Likewise, this issue is of significant public import. See RAP 13.4(b)(4). As the court of appeals observed only a few months ago:

Over 40 years ago, with the adoption of SEPA, we first read in Washington law that each generation is trustee of the environment for succeeding generations. [RCW 43.21C.020.] We read also that it is the "continuing responsibility" of the state and its agencies to act so we may carry out that trust. RCW 43.21C.020(2). SEPA demands that this trust be more than merely a stirring maxim or artful slogan. Instead, it is the quickening principle in the application of the statute.

RCW 43.21C.030. As several opinions of this Court (and the court of appeals) have held, "SEPA mandates governmental bodies to consider the total environmental and ecological factors to the fullest in deciding major matters." Eastlake Comm'ty Council v. Roanoke Assoc., Inc., 82 Wn.2d 475, 490, 513 P.2d 36 (1973) (emphasis in original). A "major purpose of [SEPA] is to combine environmental considerations with public decisions." RCW 43.21C.075(1); West Main Assoc. v. Bellevue, 49 Wn. App. 513, 518, 742 P.2d 1266 (1987) (environmental information "must be integrated into governmental decision-making processes"). Projects can be modified or denied based on the content of an EIS. Id. at 520-21; RCW 43.21C.060. These "procedural duties imposed by SEPA — full consideration to environmental protection — are to be exercised to the fullest extent possible to insure that the 'attempt by the people to shape their future environment by deliberation, not default' will be realized." Eastlake, supra, 82 Wn. 2d at 490 (quoting Stempel v. Dept. of Water Res., 82 Wn.2d 109, 118, 508 P.2d 166 (1973)).

For example, Lake Sawyer's water quality is obviously ill-served by an EIS that omits "vital information" relating to water quality, but that nevertheless adequately addresses impacts to wildlife or air quality.

Lands Council v. Washington State Parks Recreation Comm'n, 176 Wn. App. 787, 309 P.3d 734, 744 (2013) (footnote omitted). In short, a decision that deficient sections of an EIS may be excused by reference to other, non-deficient sections would seriously diminish the quality of public decision making in Washington for years to come.⁹

B. The Examiner's Inconsistent Findings on Key Issues
Renders the Decision Clearly Erroneous, Arbitrary and
Capricious

The examiner's decision is riddled with troubling inconsistencies and contradictions regarding impacts on Lake Sawyer. The decision was therefore arbitrary and capricious, clearly erroneous, and required remand.¹⁰

The examiner addressed other alleged deficiencies in the EIS and excused them for other reasons. We discussed some of these in our briefing below. But for some, the examiner excused the deficiencies based only on his "overall" balancing approach to the EIS. AR 24581 (adequacy standard "allows the Examiner to assess the significance of shortcoming in the context of the entire scope of the EIS and the benefits of requiring the EIS or portions of it to be redone").

See, e.g., Pierce Cy. Sherriff v. Serv. Comm'n of Pierce Cy., 98 Wn.2d 690, 695, 658 P.2d 648 (1983) ("Arbitrary and capricious action has been defined as willful and unreasoning action, without consideration and in disregard of facts and circumstances.") (emphasis supplied; internal quotation omitted); Norway Hill Pres. and Prot. Ass'n v. King Cy. Council, 87 Wn.2d 267, 274, 552 P.2d 674 (1976) (explaining that agency action is "clearly erroneous" when "the reviewing court . . . is left with the definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been committed," which is an even "broader" standard of review than arbitrary and capricious) (internal quotation omitted). See also Defenders of Wildlife v. U.S. Envtl. Prot. Agency, 420 F. 3d 946, 959 (9th Cir. 2005) ("[I]nternally contradictory agency reasoning renders resulting action 'arbitrary and capricious"), rev. on other grounds, 551 U.S. 644 (2007). See also Gen. Chem. Corp. v. U.S., 817 F.2d 844, 857 (D.C. Cir. 1987) (same).

Beginning his analysis, the examiner found that the project has the "potential to exact devastating consequences" on Lake Sawyer and that this was the "most difficult issue by far." AR 24581. The examiner stated:

Given the prominence that Lake Sawyer water quality plays in the Black Diamond community, the significance of phosphorous impacts and the uncertainty in the science backing [the] Implementation Plan, it was unreasonable for the EIS to fail to warn of the specific problems that could arise from phosphorous contamination of Lake Sawyer."

AR 24601. See also, Op. Br. at 23-24 (quoting similar findings). The examiner later excused this deficiency by referring to statements made in other documents that were *not* part of the EIS. AR 24582; 24598-99. This was clear error. An EIS must itself contain the required analysis. 11

But beyond this clear error, the examiner made inconsistent findings regarding the probative value of the other documents. This should have precluded the court of appeals from affirming the examiner's reliance on them, but it did not. Slip Op. at 18-20.

The two non-EIS documents relied on by the examiner were an old water quality plan and a more recent implementation plan. But despite his incorrect reliance on these non-EIS documents, he also held that, substantively, they could *not* be relied upon to assess impacts on Lake

WAC 197-11-402(6) (EIS analysis "shall be generally understood without turning to other documents").

Sawyer. For example, the examiner found that the old water quality plan (the "LSMP") "makes no assurance that its mitigation measures will prevent the adverse impacts of phosphorous contamination, despite the clearly erroneous belief of the Applicant's consultant that it would." AR 24582 (emphasis supplied). 12 "If the LSMP was the final word on the issue, the City would be tasked with drafting a new TV FEIS." AR 24582 (emphasis supplied). Despite these clear statements about the LSMP's substantive inadequacies, the court of appeals relied extensively on the LSMP in upholding the examiner. See Slip Op. at 16-19. 13

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