RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Mar 27, 2014, 11:18 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

No. 89997-5 Court of Appeals No. 69418-9-I RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TOWARD RESPONSIBLE DEVELOPMENT, Appellant,

v.

CITY OF BLACK DIAMOND, et al., Respondents

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Nancy Bainbridge Rogers, WSBA No. 26662 Randall P. Olsen, WSBA No. 38488 CAIRNCROSS & HEMPELMANN

524 Second Avenue, Suite 500 Seattle, WA 98104-2323 Telephone: (206) 587-0700 Facsimile: (206) 587-2308

Attorneys for BD Lawson Partners, LP and BD

Village Partners, LP

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

²² E.g., Mentor v. Kitsap County, 22 Wn. App. 285, 588 P.2d 1226 (1978) (holding EIS adequate even though EIS did not discuss the fact that part of the planned facility was in an area designated as "open space," concluding that the failure of the EIS to discuss the ramifications of the open-space designation was "unfortunate but not fatal," and did not "by itself, require[] us to hold the statement inadequate."); Residents Opposed to Kittitas Turbines v. State Energy Facility Site Evaluation Council, 165 Wn.2d 275, 197 P.3d 1153 (2008) (holding EIS was adequate even though not all potential mitigation measures were identified and even though the setback recommended in the siting decision was not specifically discussed in the EIS); Org. to Pres. Agric. Lands v. Adams County, 128 Wn.2d 869, 913 P.2d 793 (1996) (holding EIS was adequate for a regional solid waste landfill unclassified use permit even though the EIS did not analyze alternative sites and did not provide detailed analysis of groundwater impacts where they could be studied in more depth at the time of subsequent required regulatory approvals); Klickitat County Citizens Against Imported Waste v. Klickitat County, 122 Wn.2d 619, 860 P.2d 390 (1993) (holding EIS was adequate in face of a flurry of technical arguments regarding the EIS preparation process and the analysis of historical and cultural impacts).

Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with *Kiewit*, *Weyerhaeuser*, or *Barrie*.

Although not linked to any of its allegations of error under RAP 13.4(b), TRD might also be arguing a conflict of law with the way in which the Court of Appeals applied the case of *Save Lake Washington v*.

Frank, 641 F.2d 1330, 1336 (9th Cir. 1981).²³ However, that case is not a decision of either the State Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals. In addition, TRD is wrong in asserting that the Examiner or the Court of Appeals created some sort of new averaging rule to test the adequacy of an EIS.²⁴

EISs are tested under the rule of reason, not a rule of perfection. As the Court of Appeals properly summarized, the rule of reason requires only a "reasonably thorough discussion of the significant aspects of the probable environmental consequences of the agency's decision." The rule of reason is in large part a broad, flexible cost-effectiveness standard, in which the adequacy of an EIS is best determined on a case-by-case basis guided by all of the policy and factual considerations reasonably related to SEPA's terse directives. As noted by the Court of Appeals, deference is granted to the Hearing Examiner's determination of EIS adequacy. As adequacy.

 $[\]overline{)}^{23}$ See TRD Petition for Review, pp. 9 – 10.

²⁴ TRD Petition for Review, pp. 7 - 10.

²⁵ See Slip Op., p. 5; Klickitat County Citizens Against Imported Waste v. Klickitat County, 122 Wn.2d 619, 633, 860 P.2d 390 (1993).

²⁶ Klickitat, at 633.

²⁷ Slip Op., p. 5, text and n. 15, citing RCW 43.21C.090.

As to the phosphorus issues raised by TRD in its Petition, the Court of Appeals did far more than "casual[ly] rel[y]" on Save Lake Washington.²⁸ The Court carefully reviewed the Hearing Examiner's decision at Slip Op., pp. 13 - 20. Earlier in its opinion, the Court also had summarized the case law that defines the "rule of reason," citing some of the relevant cases, at Slip Op. pp. 5-6, and including a cite to Save Lake Washington. As part of its analysis of the alleged failure to adequately disclose potential phosphorus impacts to Lake Sawyer, the Court of Appeals stated: "[a]pplying the rule of reason, it was not error to conclude that omission of the full extent of these impacts cannot alone justify invalidating the entire EIS. At the very least, it did identify Lake Sawyer as a 'potential candidate[] for eutrophication²⁹ based on increased nutrients resulting from development.""30 Neither the Hearing Examiner, nor the Court of Appeals created any sort of new legal rule. Both applied the rule of reason recognizing that an EIS need not include every last possible detail, but is required only to provide a reasonably thorough discussion of the significant aspects of the probable environmental consequences of a permit decision. This case presents no conflict with prior case law.

²⁸ See TRD Petition for Review, p. 10.

²⁹ As described in the EIS: "Eutrophication is a term that refers to the addition of nutrients to a water body. Although eutrophication can be a natural process, water pollution can greatly exacerbate and speed up this process. Eutrophication can lead to massive algae blooms in lakes and fish kills." AR 0020763.

 $^{^{30}}$ Slip Op., pp. 16 - 17, and citing AR 0020768.

TRD then re-hashes its argument, asserting that the Court of Appeals decision should be reviewed because it involves a "significant issue under the statute" reviewable under RAP 13.4(b)(3).³¹ But RAP 13.4(b)(3) requires a finding that the petition involves "a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States." Here, TRD's claim that the Decision involves a significant issue under the SEPA statute, even if it were true (which it is not), is not a basis for accepting review. Moreover, as described by the Court of Appeals, there are circumstances in which SEPA allows vital information to be omitted,³² and many EISs have been upheld as adequate despite imperfections.³³

Finally, TRD argues this issue should be reviewed as a matter of significant public import, under RAP 13.4(b)(4), asserting that the Court of Appeals decision will somehow diminish the quality of public decision making in the State of Washington for years to come. However, the Court of Appeals decision is unpublished and, as such, may not be cited as legal authority. Indeed, the Court's criteria for determining whether to accept review are similar to the criteria used by the Court of Appeals for determining whether to publish its opinion on a given matter.³⁴ Here, the Court of Appeals decided that this matter did not meet the criteria for

³¹ TRD Petition for Review, pp. 10 - 11.

³² Slip Op., p. 18, citing WAC 197-11-080(3)(a) and (b).

³³ Supra, p. 7, text and n. 22.

³⁴ See RAP 13.4(b) and RAP 12.3(d) (listing likelihood of clarifying the state of the law, significance of the legal question in issue, and the overall public interest in the matter as criteria for both acceptance of review and publication).

publication, and for the same reasons the Court should deny TRD's Petition for Review: the Petition does not raise any unsettled questions of law or involve significant constitutional issues, and the public at large has little interest in this local issue.

The Court of Appeals applied the rule of reason and TRD has failed to establish grounds for this Court to accept review.

B. Failure to Tie issues to Applicable Standards of RAP 13.4 renders them unreviewable.

TRD presents a confusing three-and-one-half page argument alleging the Court of Appeals acted arbitrarily and capriciously³⁵ by "indulg[ing]" the Hearing Examiner's decision, which itself was supposedly based on inconsistent findings regarding phosphorus.³⁶ But TRD fails to cite any of the limited standards for acceptance of review set by RAP 13.4. And, TRD makes no argument alleging any conflict with case law, any significant Constitutional question, or any issue of substantial public interest. There is no issue raised in this section of TRD's Petition which could possibly justify the Court's acceptance of review.

C. The Court of Appeals decision raises no conflict of law regarding adequacy of City Council findings, nor is any issue of substantial public interest raised.

Washington case law provides that a permit decision must be accompanied by findings of fact and conclusions of law or reasons for the

³⁵ The arbitrary and capricious standard that TRD argues for is not even an applicable standard of review under the Land Use Petition Act. *See* RCW 36.70C.130.

³⁶ TRD Petition for Review, pp. 12 - 15.

action.³⁷ In reviewing local decisions, the Court of Appeals gives deference to the legal and factual determinations of the City with expertise in land use regulation.³⁸ TRD argues the Court of Appeals upheld the City Council's approval of the MPD Permits despite a lack of findings regarding protection of small town character, and, therefore, that the decision conflicts with cases such as *Weyerhaeuser v. Pierce County*.³⁹ Again, TRD is wrong.

TRD's argument centers on the manner in which the City reviewed compliance of the MPD Permits with requirements to protect small town character. The Comprehensive Plan describes how, in planning for and managing the growth coming from MPD development, the City will apply several fundamental principles to retain its small town character, including to retain the natural setting, define features and landmarks, provide mixture of uses and continuity of form, continue compact form and

³⁷ See Weverhaeuser v. Pierce County, 124 Wn.2d 26, 35-36, 873 P.2d 498 (1994). TRD also cites (at p. 19, n. 16) to Blair v. TA-Seattle E. No. 176, 171 Wn.2d 342, 351, 254 P.3d 797 (2011) for the proposition that appellate courts should not consider the facts in the first instance as a substitute for [required] trial court findings." Similarly, TRD cites to Low Income Hous. Inst. [LIHI] v. City of Lakewood, 119 Wn. App. 110, 118-19, 77 P.3d 653 (2003) for the proposition that when an agency presents no basis for its decision, a court cannot review, and must remand for more thorough findings and articulation of the basis for the ruling. Contrary to this case, in both Blair and LIHI, the fact-finding tribunals failed to make any findings of facts in support of their decisions. In Blair, the trial court failed to make any of the findings of fact necessary to support its "severe sanction" of witness exclusion, which ultimately resulted in dismissal of the plaintiff's case. In LIHI, the Growth Management Hearings Board failed to make any findings of fact as to whether the Comprehensive Plans for the City of Lakewood and Pierce County were consistent. Here, the Court of Appeals rejected this same argument from TRD after carefully detailing the City Council's findings and conclusions on this issue.

³⁸ Slip Op., p. 5, text and n. 14.

 $^{^{39}}$ TRD fails to cite RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), but apparently raises an issue of conflict of law. TRD Petition for Review, pp. 16 – 19.

incremental development, maintain pedestrian scale and orientation, and provide opportunities for casual meeting and socializing. ⁴⁰ To implement these six fundamental principles to retain small town character, the Comprehensive Plan directed the City to "[d]evelop and enforce regulations consistent with the character and scale of the community and [to] use design guidelines to help shape development." Among those implementing regulations and guidelines, BDMC 18.98.010.L provides that the MPDs should incorporate all of those same design principles, thereby protecting small town character.

The Court of Appeals painstakingly reviewed and rejected TRD's argument. The Court described how the City Council found that the purpose of BDMC 18.98.010.L was met, including how the MPD project included a mix of uses, with development located in compact clusters, separated by sensitive areas and open space. The Court then continued a discussion and detailed quotes from the City Council's extensive findings and conclusions, including the critical point that "the Council pointed out that the [Comprehensive] Plan refers to protection of 'small town character,' which is accomplished by principles that include compact

⁴⁰ Comprehensive Plan (Comp. Plan), pp. 5-7 to 5-8. The Comp. Plan is found at Appendix C to the Response Brief of Yarrow Bay.

⁴¹ Comp. Plan, p. 5-33.

⁴² Slip Op., pp. 29 – 34.

 $^{^{43}}$ Slip Op., pp. 30-31, citing AR 0027249 (Villages Conclusion of Law 15). Note also that City Council Finding of Fact 23 provided that any Conclusion of Law deemed to be a finding of fact was automatically adopted by reference as a finding of fact, and vice versa. AR 0027188.

development."⁴⁴ In addition, the Court affirmed the remainder of the Council's findings and conclusions describing how the City Council recognized that the City's MPD regulations were to be applied to harmonize the urban density requirements with maintaining small town character, and that the Council's findings and conclusions demonstrate that the MPD Permit approvals were consistent with the Comprehensive Plan policies, including the call for protection of small town character.⁴⁵

The City Council did adopt findings and conclusions related to small town character consistent with *Weyerhaeuser v. Pierce County*, and the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the Council's decision. There is no conflict of law raised here and review should be denied.

TRD also argues that because hundreds of citizens in Black Diamond are upset, review is somehow justified under RAP 13.4(b)(4), as an issue of substantial public interest. But while Yarrow Bay's projects are large, the legal issue presented by TRD is routine. The City Council of Black Diamond adopted findings, and those findings were upheld on appeal – by both the Superior Court and the Court of Appeals. There is no issue here that transcends the specific application of municipal land use law in the City of Black Diamond to Yarrow Bay's projects. Moreover, the law is clear that community displeasure can never be the basis of a

⁴⁴ Slip Op., p. 32, text and n. 97, citing a portion of the lengthy Conclusion of Law 27, on AR 0027258.

⁴⁵ Slip Op., pp. 29 – 34.

permit decision. *Maranatha Mining, Inc. v. Pierce County*, 59 Wn. App. 795, 804, 801 P.2d 985 (1990). 46

D. TRD has conceded the issue that originally led to its Anti-SLAPP Suit Sanction request and, therefore, all issues related to the Anti-SLAPP suit motion are moot.

The Court should decline TRD's invitation to accept review and reverse the Court of Appeals' decision not to apply Washington's anti-SLAPP⁴⁷ statute (RCW 4.24.525). It appears that TRD's request is limited to the assertion that the issue of whether or not an anti-SLAPP motion can be brought at the appellate level is a matter of substantial public importance.⁴⁸

But, TRD's argument under the anti-SLAPP statute was that Yarrow Bay's request to recover attorney's fees from the individuals behind TRD was somehow intended to intimidate them. ⁴⁹ Now, TRD has conceded that Yarrow Bay may have an opportunity to pursue those individuals during Superior Court collection proceedings. ⁵⁰ Accordingly, there is no longer any dispute regarding this issue. The issue is moot.

⁴⁶ Yarrow Bay asks the Court to strike footnote 17 of TRD's Petition, which asserts facts outside the record. Facts unsupported by the record are not considered by the Court. Sherry v. Fin. Indem. Co., 160 Wn.2d 611, 615 n.1, 160 P.3d 31 (2007). Additionally, under RAP 13.4(c)(6), TRD's factual statements should be "relevant to the issues presented for review." As the record shows, the City of Black Diamond approved Yarrow Bay's MPD Permits after decades of planning. The fact stated in footnote 17 that new city council members recently were elected who oppose Yarrow Bay's development is not relevant to this case, nor a valid basis for overturning a permit decision.

⁴⁷ SLAPP is an acronym for Strategic Lawsuits Against Public Participation.

⁴⁸ TRD Petition for Review, p. 20.

⁴⁹ TRD Petition for Review, p. 20.

⁵⁰ See supra footnote 18 herein and accompanying text.

Any decision by the Supreme Court on even the procedural issue of whether or not TRD's motion was allowed to be filed in the Court of Appeals would be purely advisory.

Moreover, TRD's only basis for seeking review is the assertion that because the purpose of the statute is of public interest, the Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).⁵¹ The Court should decline to accept review of TRD's anti-SLAPP suit issue because while many statutes are adopted with a purpose statement explaining a significant interest to the public, it does not follow that, as a consequence, all petitions for review involving such statutes should be granted.

E. Yarrow Bay is entitled to an award of its attorneys' fees.

The Court should decline TRD's invitation to accept review. In addition, Yarrow Bay requests that the Court issue an award of attorneys' fees to Yarrow Bay for its preparation and filing of a timely answer pursuant to RAP 18.1(j). Yarrow Bay was awarded its fees by the Court of Appeals, pursuant to RCW 4.84.370.⁵²

⁵¹ TRD Petition for Review, p. 20.

⁵² Slip Op., p. 39, n. 119.

IV. CONCLUSION

TRD's Petition for Review fails to establish any of the grounds for review set by RAP 13.4(b). TRD's Petition should be denied. Yarrow Bay should be awarded its attorneys' fees pursuant to RCW 4.84.370 and RAP 18.1.